STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Florence County

Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_  
ONTANEY VENTRELL JACKSON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-001412

\_\_\_\_\_  
PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

\_\_\_\_\_  
TAYLOR D GILLIAM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

MAR 02 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

**Did the PCR Court err in finding that Petitioner received effective assistance of counsel, where counsel failed to notify Petitioner of his trial date in time for him to attend, remarked on his absence, stipulated to the admission of evidence, and failed to object on numerous occasions?**

## STATEMENT

Petitioner was indicted by a Florence County grand jury during its June 2010 term of court. App. 328 – 329. He was indicted on the charges of possession with intent to distribute cocaine, possession with intent to distribute cocaine base, and possession of marijuana. His case was called for trial on August 10, 2010 before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles and a jury. App. 1. Although he was not present, he was represented by Carrington Wingard. Fitzlee McEachin prosecuted the case on behalf of the State. At the conclusion of a one-day trial, the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. App. 202 ll. 4 – 23. After the admission of two prior drug convictions, Judge Nettles sentenced Petitioner and sealed the sentence. App. 205, l. 1 – App. 206, l. 7.

On January 31, 2012, Judge Nettles unsealed Petitioner's sentence. At that time, Matthew Ozment served as the assistant solicitor and Vick Meetze represented Petitioner. The sentences were unsealed and read as follows: fifteen years for the possession with intent to distribute cocaine third offense, fifteen years for possession with intent to distribute cocaine base third offense, and one year for possession of less than an ounce of marijuana. App. 214 l. 17 – App. 215, l. 12. Those sentences were crafted to run concurrently with one another.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal; his sentence and conviction were affirmed. Soon thereafter, on or about July 7, 2014, he filed an application for post-conviction relief. It contained allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, including a claim that counsel failed to “ascertain the term and day of court in which [P]etitioner was to be tried.” App. 219 – 253. The State made its Return on or about October 15, 2015. App. 254 – 260.

On March 15, 2017, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Paul M. Burch. App. 261. Jonathan Waller represented Petitioner, and Lindsey McCallister appeared on behalf of the State. Petitioner and trial counsel testified at the hearing.

An Order of Dismissal was filed June 12, 2017. Judge Burch found that Petitioner received effective assistance of counsel and that Petitioner was not prejudiced by any alleged deficiencies.

This petition follows.

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR Court erred in finding that Petitioner received effective assistance of counsel, where counsel failed to notify Petitioner of his trial date in time for him to attend, remarked on his absence, stipulated to the admission of evidence, and failed to object on numerous occasions.**

On November 26, 2009, Jake Chamberlain, a deputy with Florence County, was patrolling in Florence County where complaints of drug activity had been received by the Sheriff's office. Club Ponderosa was allegedly a location where crime had been recently occurring, so Chamberlain was driving nearby. App. 41 l. 18 – App. 43 l. 16.

Chamberlain noticed a man leaning against the wall near the back corner of the Club around ten o'clock that evening. App. 43 ll. 17 – 21. Chamberlain testified in the pretrial hearing that as soon as the person recognized his car as a patrol car, the person ran.<sup>1</sup> App. 43 ll. 22 – 24. Chamberlain followed the person. App. 43 l. 25 – App. 44 l. 1. When the person rounded the corner of the building, Chamberlain claimed the person then reached into his jacket pocket and threw multiple clear plastic bags on the ground. App. 43, l. 17 – App. 44, l. 9.

Chamberlain then got out of his patrol car and detained the man by putting him on the ground. After the deputy read the *Miranda* rights, the man agreed to speak with the deputy. The man told the deputy that he could search him. Chamberlain found a small clear plastic bag with a substance that turned out to be cocaine in the man's front jacket pocket. The man's driver's license was also found. App. 44, l. 10 - App. 45, l. 25; App. 50, ll. 18 – 21; App. 145, ll. 3 – 21.

As Chamberlain was walking the man to the patrol car, Chamberlain asked him what was in the bags he threw on the ground. The man replied that the deputy could not charge him with the

---

<sup>1</sup> Chamberlain testified that his patrol car was "semi-marked" with "stripings" on the side App. 47 ll. 4 – 15.

bags on the ground because they were not found in his pocket. App. 60, ll. 1 – 24. After the man was placed in the patrol car, then Chamberlain collected the bags from the ground. He admitted that he did not know what was in the bags. App. 63, l. 5 – App. 64, l. 5.

During Petitioner’s trial, the SLED chemist testified that one plastic bag contained 1.32 grams of cocaine base or crack; the second bag contained 2.07 grams of powder cocaine; and the third bag contained .45 grams of cocaine. App. 145, ll. 1 – 21.

#### Evidentiary Hearing

Following his arrest, Petitioner was released on bond. App. 267 l. 17 – App. 268 l. 25. He worked in Greenwood, and he traveled with coworkers in a work van. Id. Petitioner and his fellow employees would leave Monday morning or late Sunday night and return Thursday evening or Friday morning. Id. Petitioner did not drive himself; he got on a van with other men. Id. If he had to attend roll call at the courthouse, he would miss an entire week of work. Id. In order to ascertain whether he would need to appear, he would call a hotline telephone number and listen for his name. Id.

Petitioner recalled missing work to make an appearance in the courtroom at least twice. App. 270 ll. 4 – 20. Other than his trial, he never missed a court appearance. Id. He was so diligent, he even met with the solicitor to learn about appearances and roll call. App. 272 ll. 1 – 25.

Petitioner testified at his post-conviction relief hearing that he met with trial counsel twice. App. 269 ll. 1 – 19. He indicated that at those meetings, counsel explained her representation and discussed Petitioner’s charges. Id. Petitioner was unsure whether his constitutional rights were discussed. Id.

The week of his trial, Petitioner called the hotline in order to determine whether his presence was necessary. App. 273 ll. 1 – 14. He called on a Sunday, his name was not on the list of required

attendees, so he traveled in the work van to Greenwood. Id. Petitioner received a call from his attorney advising him that his case was proceeding to trial, but he did not have a way to get back to Florence. App. 272 l. 15 – App. 274 l. 8. He was tried *in absentia*. Id.

Petitioner did not speak with counsel the week before his trial. App. 274 l. 22 – App. 275 l. 21. He was completely unaware that his case was proceeding to trial. Id. Counsel had a reliable address and telephone number for Petitioner. Id. Petitioner took the initiative and attempted to call counsel, but she did not answer. App. 276 ll. 21 – 24. He left a message but never heard back. App. 280 ll. 9 – 23.

Counsel testified that she has been practicing for over forty years. App. 283 ll. 11 – 21. At the time of her representation of Petitioner, she was a part-time public defender and managed her own practice. Id. Some of her time was spent in Family Court; she did not always appear in General Sessions. App. 284 ll. 11 – 16.

Counsel recalled the telephone system wherein individuals would call in to see if an appearance was required. App. 286 ll. 5 – 19.

Regarding Petitioner’s trial, counsel’s notes reflected the following:

The next contact I had with him was when his case was being tried and [I] have to be very candid with you and tell you that I don’t recall except for what the notes reflect and that was on ‘August 9<sup>th</sup>, [Petitioner] was not on the docket for today, but Fitzlee is calling. Defendant cannot come to court. He will be here tomorrow at 8:30. I told him that he would be tried tomorrow.’ So that suggest[s] to me that I had a conversation with him on that day.

App. 288 l. 17 – App. 289 l. 1.

Regarding Petitioner’s absence, counsel mentioned it during her opening statement and closing argument. App. 88 ll. 7 – 10; App. 180 ll. 13 – 18. She suggested that it was unfortunate that Petitioner did not come to court and suggested it was difficult to determine guilt or innocence when a defendant is absent. Id.

Regarding an alleged failure to make an objection to recalling two of the State's witnesses to admit evidence, counsel attempted to justify the lack of objection by suggesting that "the Court would have allowed it so why object to something that you know the Court is going to allow." App. 201 l. 10 – App. 302 l. 13. She testified that "[i]t was fruitless to object." App. 308 ll. 3 – 7.

Counsel also stipulated "to the marijuana" thereby allowing State's Exhibit 2 and Exhibit 3 to be entered—State's 2 was a SLED report and State's 3 was marijuana. App. 303 l. 21 – App. 158 l. 11; App. 330 – 332.

Counsel also failed to object to improper remarks made by the solicitor during opening statements. App. 86 ll. 5 – 7. The solicitor shifted the burden by remarking: "On the other hand, if I don't prove my case and you are firmly convinced of [Petitioner's] innocence, you will find him not guilty." Id.

At the conclusion of Petitioner and counsel's testimony, the PCR Court heard arguments from the parties. PCR Counsel reiterated all of the above and concluded that "[p]articularly, with Mr. Jackson being here or not being here, I think it was ... incumbent on his attorney to establish a clean record and to make the objections." App. 310 l. 17 – App. 311 l. 15.

#### Discussion

Notably, when asked by Judge Nettles at the sentencing hearing why he did not appear for his trial, Petitioner responded: "[My attorney] didn't get in touch with me, sir. " App. 214, ll. 9 – 16.

There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In order to prove that counsel was ineffective, the PCR applicant

must show that: (1) counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. Strickland v. Washington, *supra*; Rhodes v. State, 349 S.C. 25, 561 S.E.2d 606 (2002).

In a PCR proceeding, the burden is on the applicant to prove the allegations in his application. *E.g.*, Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 509 S.E.2d 807 (1998). This Court will uphold the findings of the PCR court if there is any evidence of probative value to support them but will reverse the PCR court's decision when it is controlled by an error of law. Pierce v. State, 338 S.C. 139, 145, 526 S.E.2d 222, 225 (2000); Cherry v. State, *supra*.

Petitioner received ineffective of counsel by virtue of the fact that he did not receive notice from his attorney of his trial date. Without advance notice of his trial date, he was unable to attend. He previously made good faith efforts to appear in the courtroom when necessary, missing an entire week's worth of work to do so. He went as far as to call the hotline in order to listen for his name. However, because he had no advance knowledge of his trial date, it was impossible for him to attend. Therefore, he was absent and unable to assist counsel with his defense. Prior to trial, counsel failed to advise the court and the solicitor of Petitioner's situation, namely that he did not have access to a vehicle and was in a different county.

Additionally, counsel provided ineffective assistance by employing a questionable approach of acquiescing to the admission of evidence, reminding the jury of Petitioner's absence, and failing to object to prejudicial burden-shifting arguments.

The resulting prejudice manifested itself in a conviction for a third drug offense, which occurred in Petitioner's absence and resulted in a lengthy sentence based on a statutory mandatory minimum.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, Petitioner requests that the Court grant his petition for writ of certiorari to allow full briefing on this issue.



\_\_\_\_\_  
Taylor D Gilliam  
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER