STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Florence County  
Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-001412

ONTANEY VENTRELL JACKSON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

LINDSEY A. MCCALLISTER  
Assistant Attorney General  
Bar No. 79054

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUN 15 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 26, 2009, Deputy Jake Chamberlain was on patrol in Timmonsville, a high-crime area of Florence County. App. p. 93. Deputy Chamberlain was checking the area around Club Ponderosa, which was known for drug activity, when he spotted Petitioner standing around near the back of the club. App. p. 94. Chamberlain testified that as soon as Petitioner recognized his car as a patrol car, Petitioner took off running through the club's parking lot. App. p. 43. According to Chamberlain, as he followed Petitioner in his patrol car, he observed Petitioner reach into his right front jacket pocket and throw multiple bags onto the ground while he was running. App. pp. 95-96. Chamberlain then stopped his vehicle and detained Petitioner. App. pp. 96-97.

Chamberlain testified he read Petitioner his Miranda rights, and Petitioner gave Chamberlain permission to search him. App. pp. 97-98. Chamberlain found Petitioner's driver's license and a small plastic bag of cocaine in Petitioner's right front jacket pocket. App. pp. 98-99. Chamberlain testified he asked Petitioner what was in the bags he had thrown on the ground, and Petitioner replied, "You can't charge me with those because they're in the parking lot and not in my pocket." App. p. 99. Chamberlain then placed Petitioner in his patrol car and retrieved the bags Petitioner threw on the ground and placed them into evidence bags. App. pp. 99, 101. During trial, the SLED chemist testified one bag contained 1.32 grams of cocaine base, the second bag contained 2.07 grams of powder cocaine, and the third bag contained .45 grams of cocaine. App. p. 145. Chamberlain testified that marijuana was found with the "rock substance and the powder substance on the ground" App. p. 103.

Petitioner was indicted at the June 2010 term of the Florence County Grand Jury for one count of possession with intent to distribute (PWID) cocaine base, one count of PWID cocaine, and one count of possession of marijuana (2010-GS-21-0673). App. pp. 328-30. He was represented by Carrington Wingard, Esquire, at trial, and Vick Meetz, Esquire, at sentencing. App.

pp. 1, 208. After a trial *in absentia* by jury, he was convicted as indicted on all three charges. App. 202.

The Honorable Michael D. Nettles sentenced Petitioner, and sealed the sentence. App. p. 206. On January 31, 2012, Petitioner appeared for sentencing, and Judge Nettles unsealed Petitioner's sentence. App. p. 208. Judge Nettles sentenced him to concurrent terms of imprisonment for one year for possession of marijuana, and fifteen years each for PWID cocaine and PWID cocaine base. App. pp. 214-17.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. An appeal was perfected by LaNelle Cantey Durant, Esquire, of the South Carolina Office of Appellate Defense, who submitted an Anders<sup>1</sup> brief. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction on December 11, 2013. State v. Jackson, Op. No. 2013-UP-453 (S.C. Ct. App. filed December 11, 2013). The remittitur was returned to the Circuit Court on January 8, 2014.

Petitioner filed his application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on July 7, 2014. App. pp. 219-53. Respondent filed a Return on October 15, 2016, requesting an evidentiary hearing in the matter. App. pp. 254-60. On March 15, 2017, an evidentiary hearing was convened at the Florence County Courthouse before the Honorable Paul M. Burch. App. p. 261. Jonathan D. Waller, Esquire, represented Petitioner. App. p. 261. Lindsey A. McCallister, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented Respondent. App. p. 261. At the hearing, Petitioner testified on his own behalf and Carrington Wingard, Esquire, testified for Respondent. App. p. 262. An Order of Dismissal was filed June 12, 2017, in which the PCR Court found Petitioner received effective assistance of trial and sentencing counsel, and Petitioner was not prejudiced by either counsel's representation. App. pp. 314-327. Petitioner filed a timely notice of

---

<sup>1</sup> Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).

appeal, and submitted a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari to this Court on March 2, 2018. This Return to the Petition for a Writ of Certiorari follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for post-conviction relief matters depends on the specific issues before the appellate court. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). On appellate review, courts defer to a post-conviction relief court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is any evidence in the record to support them. Smalls, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40 (citing Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016); Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). However, pure questions of law will be reviewed *de novo* without deference to the lower court. Id. Appellate courts will reverse the decision of the post-conviction relief court when it is controlled by an error of law. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Lomax v. State, 379 S.C. 93, 665 S.E.2d 164 (2008). In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that [it] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland. First, a PCR applicant must prove counsel's performance was deficient. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 625; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625

(quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). A PCR applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

## ARGUMENT

**There is probative evidence in the record to support the post-conviction relief court's finding Petitioner received effective assistance of counsel where trial counsel notified Petitioner of his trial date and informed him that if he failed to appear, he would be tried in his absence and where trial counsel articulated valid trial strategies for not objecting to the Solicitor's opening statement and the recall of the State's lab witness and for stipulating that the leafy green substance found in one of the bags that Petitioner threw was marijuana.**

Petitioner asserts Counsel was deficient in failing to notify him of his trial date in time for him to attend. Petitioner also contends that Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the solicitor's opening statement, for failing to object to the recall of the State's lab witness, and for stipulating that the marijuana found Petitioner was his. However, the PCR court properly denied these allegations as Petitioner failed to establish counsel's performance was constitutionally ineffective. This Court should deny certiorari.

- 1. The PCR court correctly found Counsel was not deficient because she notified Petitioner of his trial date and informed him he would be tried in his absence if he failed to appear.**

It is well established that, although the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution guarantees the right of an accused to be present at every stage of his trial, this right may be waived, and a defendant may be tried in his absence. State v. Fairey, 374 S.C. 92, 99, 646 S.E.2d 445, 448 (Ct. App. 2007). A criminal defendant may be tried in his absence only upon a trial court's finding (1) the defendant has received notice of his right to be present, and (2) he was advised the trial would proceed in his absence if he failed to attend. State v. Williams, 292 S.C. 231, 232, 355 S.E.2d 861, 862 (1987). Notice of the term of court in which a defendant will be tried is sufficient notice to enable the defendant to make an effective waiver of his right to be present at his trial. Ellis v. State, 267 S.C. 257, 261, 227 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1976); Fairey, 374 S.C. at 99, 646 S.E.2d at 448. Further, at the time of Petitioner's trial, case law provided that a bond form was sufficient

to give warning that a defendant may be tried in his absence should he fail to appear. Fairey, 374 S.C. at 101, 646 S.E.2d at 449.<sup>2</sup>

The trial transcript reflects Counsel made a motion for a continuance, requested a bench warrant be issued, and objected to Applicant being tried in his absence. App. pp. 27-29. The trial court found Applicant was given adequate notice of the court date and that he would be tried in his absence if he failed to appear. App. pp. 30-31. Further, Petitioner's PCR Counsel stipulated at the evidentiary hearing that the procedural requirements for Petitioner to be tried *in absentia* had met. App. p. 295.

At the evidentiary hearing, Counsel testified that the first week of the court term was July 27, 2010, at which time Petitioner was excused by the solicitor and told his case would likely be called during the third week of the term. App. pp. 287-88. Counsel further testified she telephoned Petitioner on August 9, 2010, when she received notice from the solicitor that he intended to call Petitioner's case, to inform him his case was being called for trial the next day. App. p. 288.

---

<sup>2</sup> On August 16, 2017, the Court of Appeals issued an opinion in State v. Wrapp, 421 S.C. 531, 808 S.E.2d 821 (Ct. App. 2017). The issue in Wrapp was whether Wrapp voluntarily waived his right to be present at trial and was sufficiently on notice he would be tried in his absence. Id. at 533, 808 S.E.2d at 822. The Court of Appeals held Wrapp was improperly tried *in absentia* because the trial court failed to make the required findings that Wrapp "(1) received notice of his right to present, and necessarily, of the term of court for which he needed to be present, and (2) was warned he would be tried *in absentia* if he failed to attend." Id. at 536, 808 S.E.2d at 823. The Court of Appeals found the record to be "devoid of any fact indicating Wrapp had actual notice of the term of court in which his trial would occur." Id. at 536, 808 S.E. 2d at 824. The Court stated: "It seems logical that for one to voluntarily fail to attend trial or otherwise waive his trial appearance, one must actually know when the trial is to occur." Id. at 537, 808 S.E.2d at 824. Notably, in Petitioner's case, he had notice of the term of court in which his case would be tried and, by his own admission, he actually appeared during the first week of that term. App. p. 272. Counsel testified Petitioner was told at that time his case would be called during the third week of the term, if at all. App. 287. Additionally, Counsel called Petitioner as soon as she learned his case was being called for trial the next day and informed of the trial date and that he would be tried in his absence if he failed to appear. App. pp. 288-89. Petitioner's case is thus easily distinguishable from Wrapp.

According to Counsel, Petitioner told her he would be present for trial, but he did not appear by 8:30 a.m. the next day, at which time she called him again. App. p. 288. Counsel testified Petitioner did not answer her phone call, so she left him a voice message asking him to come to the fourth floor courtroom as soon as possible and explained he would be tried in his absence if he did not appear. App. p. 289. The PCR court found Counsel's testimony on this issue to be credible, while also finding Petitioner's testimony<sup>3</sup> was not credible. App. p. 321.

Therefore, there is sufficient evidence in both the trial record and the record from the evidentiary hearing to support the PCR court's finding Counsel was not deficient. Petitioner's argument Counsel was deficient is without merit and was properly denied by the post-conviction relief court.

**2. The PCR Court correctly found Counsel was not deficient for choosing not to object to the solicitor's opening statement, for not objecting to the recall of the State's lab witness, and for stipulating that the leafy green substance found in one of the bags was marijuana because Counsel articulated valid trial strategies for each decision.**

Petitioner also argues the PCR court erred in failing to find Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the solicitor's opening statement, for failing to object to the recall of the State's lab witness, and for stipulating that the leafy green substance found in one of the bags on the

---

<sup>3</sup> Petitioner testified he was released on bond shortly after his arrest on these charges, and at the time of trial, he was working in Greenwood. App. pp. 267-68. He testified he would take a work van with his coworkers, and they would stay the entire week. App. pp. 267-68. If Petitioner knew he had a court appearance, he would miss that week of work, which happened at least twice. App. pp. 267-68. Petitioner said that he called the court hotline before the second week of the trial term, and his name was not on the list, so he got on the work van and went to Greenwood for the week. App. 272 l. 24- App. 273 l. 14.

Petitioner offered conflicting testimony as to when he was notified of his trial date. Petitioner first admitted Counsel called to tell him his case was being called for trial the following day, but because he was out of town without a car, he had no way to get back to Florence. App. pp. 273-74. Petitioner then testified he was not aware his case was going to trial that day and claimed he did not speak with Counsel either the week leading up to trial or afterward. App. pp. 274-75.

ground was marijuana. “Counsel’s performance is accorded a favorable presumption, and a reviewing court proceeds from the rebuttable presumption that counsel ‘rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.’” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690. There is a strong presumption that counsel’s decisions are based on tactical strategy rather than neglect. Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003) (quoting Massaro v. United States, 538 U.S. 500 (2003)). “Accordingly, when counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 567, 689 S.E.2d 629, 632 (2010) (citing Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 110, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000)). See also Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992) (holding where counsel articulates valid reasons for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel); Ingle v. State, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002) (holding counsel may avoid a finding of ineffectiveness if he articulates a valid reason for using a certain strategy). “Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel.” Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992) (citing Goodson v. United States, 564 F.2d 1071 (4th Cir. 1977)). Trial counsel’s strategy is reviewed under “an objective standard of reasonableness.” Magazine v. State, 361 S.C. 610, 617, 606 S.E.2d 761, 764 (2004).

In the present case, Counsel testified that she generally does not object to opening or closing arguments because she gets a chance to respond in her own argument. App. pp. 302-06. She stated her strategy in her opening statement was to be honest with the jury as to Petitioner’s absence, but she also made sure to explain the State’s burden and to stress that the burden did not change because of Petitioner’s absence. App. pp. 88, 303-304. Counsel testified she believes

sometimes it is best to acknowledge bad facts up front. App. 302, 306-308. She testified she stipulated to the green leafy substance being marijuana because she had seen the lab reports and knew what the testimony would be. App. p. 302. In the same vein, Counsel also testified she did not object to the State's lab witness being recalled because she knew the court would allow it, and that "it was fruitless to object." App. 302, 306-308. She instead made a continuing objection to the admission of the drug evidence, which she renewed when the witness was recalled. App. 30, 301-302.

Counsel articulated a general strategy of conceding ownership of the small amount of cocaine found on Petitioner's person, while still contesting the charges arising from the bags of drugs found on the ground. App. pp. 293-94. To this end, Counsel made a motion to suppress the drug evidence found on the ground in a suppression hearing prior to the start of trial, and when the motion was denied, Counsel made a continuing objection to the admission of the drug evidence throughout the trial. App. pp. 98, 146, 158. Counsel explained Petitioner admitted to ownership of the cocaine found in his pocket, and she felt it would help Petitioner to take responsibility for the possession of the bag found on his person. App. p. 302, 307. Counsel further testified Petitioner had admitted to her that the bag recovered from his pocket was his. Counsel also testified the focus of the defense was the two bags of cocaine found on the ground, because the combined weight of those bags added up to a trafficking level offense, rather than mere possession. App. pp. 305-07. The marijuana charge was a possession-level charge which did not carry an increased sentence like the cocaine charge. App. p. 164. See also S.C. Code. Ann. § 44-53-0370(d).

"Our precedents plainly illustrate that counsel's concession of a client's guilt does not automatically constitute deficient performance." Young v. Catoe, 205 F.3d 750, 759 (4th Cir. 2000). Similarly, "there is a distinction which can and must be drawn between . . . a tactical retreat

and . . . a complete surrender.” Clozza v. Murray, 913 F.2d 1092, 1099 (4th Cir. 1990). “Some remarks of complete concession may constitute ineffective assistance of counsel, but tactical retreats may be reasonable and necessary within the context of the entire trial, particularly when there is overwhelming evidence of the defendant’s guilt.” Bell v. Evatt, 72 F.3d 421, 429 (4th Cir. 1995). See also Underwood v. Clark, 939 F.2d 473, 474 (7th Cir. 1991) (explaining that “acknowledgment [of guilt] can be a sound tactic when the evidence is indeed overwhelming (and there is no reason to suppose that any juror doubts this) and when . . . there is an advantage to be gained by winning the confidence of the jury”).

In this case, trial counsel testified she stipulated the leafy green substance in one of the bags was marijuana because she didn’t want to appear “obstreperous” and she often chooses not to object every time she may have a valid objection as a general trial strategy of “picking your battles.” App. 302, 306-308. Here, the identity of the leafy green substance was never a contested issue in the case – Counsel’s strategy was to contest ownership only. App. p. 307. Additionally, Petitioner admitted ownership of the bag of cocaine found on his person, and Counsel could reasonably choose to concede that issue as part of an overall trial strategy, in the hopes the jury would find him guilty of possession, but not distribution. The PCR Court therefore correctly found trial counsel was not deficient and articulated a valid trial strategy in support of her performance. App. p. 324.

Accordingly, Counsel’s performance was not deficient, nor was Petitioner prejudiced by any alleged deficiency. Therefore, the post-conviction relief court properly denied relief.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR court's finding Counsel was not deficient. Should this Court grant Certiorari, Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.